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Strategic report for the year ended 31 July 2023

The directors present their
strategic report on the
croup for the year ended
31 Juty 2023,

Review of the business

The principal activity of the group is the provision of educationdl, recruitment and marketing
services far international students through subsidiary undertakings and in partnership via joint
ventures with universities,

The subsidiary and associated undertakings of the group are listed in Note 22 to the
financial statements.

The principal activity of the company in the year under review was that of the provision of
marketing, management and other corporate services including to the company's joint ventures
and direct recruitment of students on benalf of partners and affiliates

Business strategy

INTO's mission 1s to transform international students’ academic and career success through
exceptional uriversity partrersnips The unified strategy to deliver *his mission covers 3 core
pitlars and is supported by the INTO culture of growing together:

= Exceptional university partnerships including student academic and career
success. INTO partner with universities acrass US, UK, Europe and Australia 1o support
their internationalisation strategies, including' delivering pathway programmes, advising on
university courses & programmes, implementing sales & activation in student markets, and
performing enrolment services. The on-campus teams teach and support our international
students, driving higher progressicn rates to university, retention to degree, and ultimately,
better employability prospects

= Differentiation in market. INTC ensure universities’ propositiors are differentiated in
increasingly competitive markets, and leverage our unigue receuitment network and university
access centre (UAD) infrastructure to create diverse demand.

+ Enroiment excellence. INTO ensure a transparent and reliable application and arrival process
for students, agents, and university partners.
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Results and performance

The results of the group for the year, as set out on pages 21 to 26, show that overall
performance for FY23, whils{ Lontinuing 1o be impacted by the COVID 19 pandemic, are
recovering as more locations reduce restrictions on international student mobility and volumes
and revenue therefore increases. The results show turnover up 16% to £ 111,637k (2022
£95,131k). Management monitor and review the business on a constant foreign exchange basis
including the group’s share of joint venture performance. On this basis adjusted turmnover is up
13% 10 £159.,586k (2022; £140,797k). The group and share of joint ventures operating 10ss
improved £4,327k to g loss of £7,750k (2022 loss of £12,077).

Net earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amartization (EBITDA), measured at current
year foreign exchange rate, is 2 profit of £1,282«< animprovement of £5,320k on the arior year
(2022 lass of £4.038k) The shareholders deficit far the group totals £7,012k (2022  surplus
of £3,731k).

The group has a £30m revalving credit faclity to help to provide fexibylity as required during
the period At 31 July 2023 £20.2m of the facility was drawn. This has enabled investments in
new operations in Australia, a number of new university access centres globally and continued
investrment in systems and people.

The year end cash halance was £14,143k (2022' £8,437k). While the group generated positive
EBITDA there has been a reduction in group cash position as investments in capital expenditure
and new business areas have continued to be protected. The group has covenants agreed with
its bankers 1o February 2025 showing the forecast recovery and continues to track inline with
these requirements The group is expecting 1o cantinue to use the facility in F¥24 for working
capital purpnses

Strategically, INTO signed a new UK partnership with Lancaster University 1o operate a new on-
campus Pathway programme and signed new US partnerships with University of Massachusetts
Amherst, Montclar State University and the University of Oklahoma for direct entry recruitment
INTO also opened new university access centers in Dubai and Almaty, launched the INTO

digital student community platform, and continued to develop the digital experience far the
application process.
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Key performance indicators ("KPIs")

The Board manitors pragress against the company's strategy by reference to the following KPis

2023 2022

£000 £'000
Adjusted turnaver * 159,586 140,797
Net EBITDA™* 1,282 {4,038}
Adjusted EBITDA*™ 8,136 3441
Underlying group and share of joint ventures operating loss {4,817) (11.883)
Student satisfaction 90% 53%
Cash 14,143 8,437

.

Adjusted turnover is calculated as statutory turnove- plus the group's share of jaint venture turnove This helps INTO to

ersure it1s measJnng the value we delwer 1o our Pa~tners Tarnover s adjusted to re ove discort nued operations ard

the Jricr year 1s presented at current year foreign 2xchange rates

** Net EBITDA 15 3 metnic used Dy management to assess the Lnderlying perfe:mance of the business This metnc adjusts
far ron-coter mnous year ends and other tming mavemants and s megsured at Current year foreigr exchange and
includes group and share of joint vertures

*** Adjusted ZBITDA Ir addition o the adusiments above, Ths meTnc Also adjusts for Iesses ncurred for bath new

partnerships ard products. one off items and board costs. which can distort profitabiity Tois metic 1s also measured at

cunent year foreign exchange and inc'udes group and shawe of ont ventures,

2023 2022
E'000 £'000
Jurnover 111,637 96,131
Share of joint venture turnover 47,951 42.226
Adjust prior year at current year foreign exchange rates - 2,455
Adjust for discontinued operaticns (2) (15)
Adjusted turnover (at constant fareign exchange rates) 159,586 140,797
2023 2022
£000 £'000
Group and share of joint ventures operating oss (7.750} (12077
Add: group and share of joint ventures administrative exceptional 2,933 184
charge
Add depreciation and amortisation 4,730 5,055
Add. share of joint ventures’ depreciation and amartisation 1416 1,262
Adjustment for non-coterminous year end and other timing 47 1,268
movements
Adjustment to current year foreign exchange rates - 260
Net EBITDA (at constant foreign exchange rates) 1,282 (4,038}
Board and cne off costs 2,093 1,150
New partnership and product start-up losses 4,761 6,329

Adjusted EBITDA (at constant foreign exchange rates) 8,136 3,441
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The process of risk acceptance and risk management is addressed through a framewaork of
policies, procedures and internal controls. All policies are subject to Board approval and ongaing
review by management. Compliance with regulation, legal and ethical standards is a high
priority for the group and the goup finance department take on animpertant oversight relein
this regard. See the statement on governance and internal control for mere details on the risk
management process.

The directors consider the foliowing 1o be principal risks and uncertainties facing the company:

» global pandemic and the consequent impact on the ability of international students to travel,

+ global economic recession, inflationary pressures and interest rates;

= changes to government regulations, part.cularly those affecting student vsas, and

» natural disasters, acts of terrarism and the consequent impact an the ability of international
students to travel.

The Board actively monitors these risks on an on-going basis. The impact of the global pandemic
and the mitigation and actions taken have been discussed elsewhere in this report, The Board
believe that high quality student education remains a priority for parents during recession and
therefore work to develop the product portfolio to ensure that INTO remains an educator of
choice in the event of any downturn, New initiatives are constantly being developed to attract
and retain high quality studerts and the courses the groud offers are reviewed tc ensure that
they remain relevant and compettive. Inflationary pressures are being monitored and actions
taken where possible 1o manage these. Staff costinflation is being seen in many markets as i1
other industries ard the Board ~eview these as part of the w der financia' forecasting process.

Government regulations in both the countries that INTO recruit students from and the countries
students’ study in, are menitored and the impacts of any changes assessed and understood. As
the group has a portfelio of countries in both its recruitment markets and education markets the
impact of any cne change on the business is lessened. The Board have continued to pursue 3
strategy of diversifying in both markets 1o ensure this continues ta be the case.

Any itemns which impact students’ witlingness or ability to travel internationally; be those natural
disasters, terrorism or the general openness of a country for international students impact the
group. The directors keep abreast of these risks through market awareness, building robust
working relationships with partners and developing a strong senior management team and react
1o these market forces as deemed appropriate in each lacation.
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Qutlook

INTO antizipate the continuing recovery of financial oerfurmance in the year end ng 31 July 2024
and have seen sigrificant growth in new studant enrolments in the Aug Nov 23 intake, The
group have prepared a forecast based on student valumes continuing to recover and have warked
with our 2artners and staff to rospond to this Careful monitoring of delvery of the strategic

plan will continue into FY24 and should enable INTO to continue to invest in new products,
recruitment, and technology te help ensure the future business will continue to thrive.

Statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties in
accordance with s172 (1) Companies Act 2006

The directors consider, both individually and collectively, that they have acted in the way they
consider in good faith would promote the success o the group for the penefit of 1ts memrbers as
a whole (having regard to the stakeholders and matters set out in s172{1)a-f) of the Act) in the
deaisions taken during the year ended 31 July 2023 and in creating the future business plans
{the "business plans”y

¢ INTO Jriversity Partnerships’ business plans are designed o have a long-term beneficiat
impact on the group and to contribute to its success by providing high guality international
education to our students and allowing our partners to meet their internationalisation aims.

*  Our employees are fundamental to the delivery of the business plans, and we aimtobe a
resporsible and aTtractive employer in our approach to pay and the benefits our employees
receive, an inclusive and enabling culture within the company and the apportunities they have
to develop their careers.

»  NTO University Partnerships' business plans rely on developing long-term relationships
with suppliers and customers, enabling the group 10 gain a detailed understanding of their
requirements and priorities. We aim to act responsibly and fairly in how we engage with
all stakeholders and a focus on ‘partniership’is ingrained in our business operations and
processes. The COVID-19 pandemic has meant changes to some of our partnership models
but due to the relationships INTO have built with our university partners the group have been
able to flexibly change the model to respond 1o the changing requirenents o our partners

= INTO University Partnerships considers the impact of the group’s operations on the
community and the environment. All employees can take up 1o 2 pald days per year to
volunteer at a nor-profit organisation of ther choce in order to contribute to either their lacal
community or a cause that is important to them.

» Asdirectors ourintention is to behave responsibly and ensure that management operate the
business with igh standards of conduct and governance, and regulatory compliance in order
to ensure that our shareholdars benest from the delivery of tae INTO group's busiress plans.
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Statement of Corporate Governance and Internal Control

Governance

INTO University Partnerships ("INTO") is a registered higher education prowider and is recorded
on the Office for Students ("C1S") register of providers INTO was regstered n September 2020
and therefore applies the accounts direction published by the O1S in these accounts {see Note
5 for further disclosure in this respect). This statement of corporate governance sets out how
INTO ensures:

a. transparency about its corporate governance arrangements; and

b. the adequacy and effectiveness of arrangements for corporate governance, risk management
and the oversight of any statutory and other regulatory responsibilities, including compliance
with INTO's ongoing conditions of registration.

INTO is & private limited company and as such it is governed by its Board of Directors (the "Board™).
For OfS purposes the Board is also the Governing Body. The Board has an established governance
framework which details its primary responsibilities. This framework has beenin place for the year
ended 31 July 2023 and up to the date of approval of the financial staterents. The framewark exists.

« Toensure that the company's strategic direction remains both appropriate and achievable;
= Tomonitor organisational performance and evaluate the achievement of the strategic and
business plans and annual budget outcomes;
« Toensure the company has appropriate corporate governance structures in place including
standards of ethical behaviour and promote an agreed culture of environmental, social and
governance responsibilities
+  Toestablish the policy framework for governing the company from which all operaticnal
policies and actions are developed;
»  Toassess risks facing the company, establish a risk management plan and
menitor compliance;
» To monitor and ensure that the company is complying with the ongaoing conditicns of
registration and any other regulatory requirements, as applicable to the company, estatiished
from time to time by the OfS;
= Toensure that the company's Articles of Association and Governance Framework uphald all
public interest governance principles (the *Principles”) as may be relevant ta the company (as
prescribed by the OfS from time to time);
+ Toestablisn processes 1o monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the
Board itself;
+ In the event the company 15 inrecelpt of public funds, ensure there are adeguate and effective
arrangements in place such that those public funds are managed appropriately, inline with
the conditions of grant and the principles of regularity, propriety and vatue for money and ta
protect the interests of taxpayers and other stakeholders. INTO is not currently i receipt of
any public funds;
* Toensure any applicable obligations imposed by section 149(1) of the Equality Act 2010 (the
“Act") on public authorities are complied with (the “Public Sector Equality Duty™, recognising
the need to have due regard to
* eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct thatis
prohibited by or under the Act;

» advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and

« foster good relations between persans who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share .

= To take such steps as are reasonably practicable 1o ensure that freedom of speech within the
law is secured across the company, and

»  Toensure trat staff while engaged in teaching have freedom within the law to question and
test received wisdom and to put forward new 1deas and controversial or unpopular opinions
without placing themselves in jeopardy of losing theilr jobs or privileges they may have within
the company
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The Board consists of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Chairman, Non-Executive Directors,
shareholder and investor-appointed Directors. The Board has established an Executive Team
and separate Audit, Remuneration and Nominations committees with fuimally delegated duties
to ensure INTO's corporate governance arrangements are transparent with clear reporting

lines of respansibility. Each of the commitiees meets at regular intervals to discharge their
responsihilities under the delegated duties and terms of reference of the committee. The
terms of reference of each committes are reviewsad annually and formally signed off by the
Board. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the applicability of the Higher
Education senior staff remuneration code published by the Committee of Uwversity Chairs and
recommending resulting actions.

In the context of governance, the Audit Committee has a particularly important functionin
exoressing opinions 2nd giving assurances to the Boa-d relating 1215 rev-ew of the effectiveness
of the arrangements for risk management, control and governance, The risk managermant
element of this rale includes the review of the processes which lead to the statement oninternal
contrelin the financ.al statements.

In accordance with best practice, in the last year the Board undertock an externally conducted
review of Board effectiveness. The report was presented to the Board in March 2023 and sharec
with the OfS. Its recommendaticns are being implemented

tnternal control

The Board and the committees have responsibitity for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the group's policies, aims and objectives whilst
safeguarding the funds and assets for whichitis responsitle, The system of internal control

is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of non-achievement of policies. aims and
objectives; 11 can therefore anly provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness
ardis designed to cover business, operational and compliance nsks, not just financiat, This
process has been in place for the year ended 31 July 2023 and up to the date of approval of the
Financial Statements. INTO considers the internal control mechanisms it has in place as the most
appropriate way of managing the risks posed to the INTO group.

The Board receives the minutes of the Audit Committee and periodic reports from the Chair of
the Audit Committee concerning internal control.

The review of the e*fectiveness of the systam of internal controi is alsainfarmed by the wark of
the Executive Team, who have responsibility for the development, maintenance, and continual
review of the internat control framework. The group does net have an internal audit function

but does have a nominated senior leader who ensures risk reviews are completed for business,
operational and compliance risk. These risks are scored for likelihood, impact and velocity for each
area of the business and are presented to the Board on a quarterty basis with mitigation plans
as appropriate.

The group has established anti-bribery and fraud policies which are reviewed periodically. The
main emphasis of the fraud policy is on fraud prevention, achieved through risk assessment,
process design informed by awareness of fraud risk, and Ly keeping staff a-ert torisks. The Audit
Committee has a standing agenda item relating to regulatory and/or compliance issues sa they
can be highlighted and raised as appropriate. There is regular reporting of fraud and irregularities
at the Audit Committee. During the year mandatory anti-brnbery and fraud training was
implemented for INTO group employees.

The Audit Committee also receives and evatuates any recommendations from the external
auditors in refation to cantrols. The external auc tors have not identified any significant
deficiences in internal contra during the course sf their audiz wor< for the year erdad 31
July 2023
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The Board recognises it is ultimately responsible for ensuring & sound system of internal controls
is maintained and has appropriate measures in place to ensure such controls are continually
reviewed fcr ongoing effectiveness

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed onits behalf by:

Sir Dawid Eastwood. 14/12/2023

Sir David Eastwood, Non Executive Chairman Date
P 14/12/2023

lohn Sykes, CED Date
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 July 2023

The directors present their
annual report together with
the audited consolidated
financial statements of the
group and company for the
year ended 31 July 2023,

Matters covered in the strategic report

In accordance with Section 414 of the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’
Repor 1) Regulations 2013, the group has chosen to include a Strategic Report. The
information in this report concerns the business review, principal risks and uncertainties and
future developments.

Results and dividends

The Igss for the financial year amounted ts £13,723k (2022 loss of £8185k) The directors did
not pay a dividend in the year (2022: Enil).

Financial risk management

The group is exposed 1o foreign exchange risk through the cwnership of subsidiaries and joint
venture operations in North America and Asia and the income generated in these regions. The
group earns significant US Col'ar income which as the CBP to USD exchange rate falls becomes
more valuable and vice versa. Bue to the COVID-18 disruption in volumes and revenues the group
have not forward hedged this income, but this is reviewed by the board on an ongoing basis,

The graup has a £30m revo ving credit facility with its bankers The financial commitmerts in
refation to this facility are as disclosed in Note 15.

The Board do not cons-der the group 1o be subject to significant cash flow er hquidity nsk and,
aside from the facilities above, does not actively use any complex financial instruments as part of
its financial nsk management. It +s exposed to the usual credit risk and cash flow risk associated
with selling on credit and manages this through credit control procedures.

Directors

The directors of the ompany wno were ir office dunng the year aad up o the date of signing
the financial statements were

A Calin

DS Eastwood

| T Leeds

] Mairs

S G Smale

| B Sykes

0 Streatfeild (resigned 31 March 2023)
N M Adlam (appointed 1 |anuary 2023}

T Todd (appointed 1 November 2022)

A Gigante (appointed 1 November 2022)

Company registration number

The company registration number 1s 05507863, The company is a limited company incorporated
in the rited <ngdom. The company's registered office 1s detalled on page 3

Going concern

The financial statements have been prezared ¢n the go ng concern basis, which assumes that
the group will continue to be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the relevant gong
concern period, which runs to February 2025,

The COVID 19 crisis impacted the international education sector and more generally student
mability. Managerrent nave taken steps to maintain the financial resilierce of *he groupin the
short and long term through diligent liquidity mlanning inciuding renegatiating the credit facilities
withits bankers. Ir addition, ris<s relating to inflation and other external factors have been
considered as disclosed in the “principal risks and uncertainties” section on page 7.
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As aresult, this uncertainty has been considered as part of the groups assessment of the going
concern basis in the preparation of the Anancial statements, In preparing this analysis the board
have considered the group’s ahility to meet its liabilities based on various levels of reductions

in student numbers, as well as a number of Cost mitigation strategles that can and have

been employed

The group holds a £30m facility with HSBC Bank pic which has been extended to February 2025.
The covenants for the extension period to February 2025 move the facility to a quarterly test

of interest cover and leverage from April 2024 reflecting the group's positive performance and
outlook. Management will renegotiate this facility beyond this period at an appropriate time.
Management expect to use this facility in FY24 to continue toinvest in future growth strategies
and fund new centres in their start up phase. Management continues to monitor compliance
with the covenants required under the agreement. As at 31 July 2073 £20 2m was drawn under
this facility.

The Board have considered what level of reduction in student volumes and corresponding
mitigation would break a faclity covenant and do not consider this reverse stress test scenario a
likely occurrence. Based on these circumstances, the Board believe that it remains appropnate to
prepare the 9nancial statements an the going concern basis.

After considering ~ha cash flow prgjections far the penod to ~etruary 2025, ~he directors
believe the group has sufficient funds to meetits liabilities as they fall due and have accordingly
prepared the financial statements on @ going concern bas:s.

Directors’ indemnities

As permitted by the Articles of Association, the directors have the beneft of anindemnity which
is a qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the companies Acl
2006 The ndemnity was in force throughout the last financiat year and is currently 11 force. The
compary also purchased and mainta ned throughout the financ al year d rectors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of itself and its directars.

Charitable donations

INTO University Partnershios a locates a preportion of its profits to func the ape-ating costs
of INTQ Giving, a charity supporting educational projects for poor and disadvantaged children
around the world. During the year this amounted to £115,790 (¢622: £104,790)

Environmental, social and community issues

The company is committed to the promotion of environmental initiatives and minimising
the environmertal impact of 1ts businesses. Through focusing on creating an efficient and
sustainable business the company 15 taking steps to reduce its on-going carbon footprint,

The INTO group is driven by the desire to provide life-changing experiences for our students,
Moreover, the investment and additional revenue generated are helping to revitalise our partner
universities and the local and regional economy that surrounds them. The INTO group also works
closely with INTO Giving, a chanty that supports educational and humanitarian projects for some
of the world's poorest and most disadvantaged children. The group supports INTO Giving through
fundraising activities, and througn staff valunteering their time and sk lls.

In 2022/23, INTQ Giving donated £115,790 in support of educational and humanitarian projects
in Pakistan, Lebancn, Vietnam, Tanzania, India, Indonesia and Zambia and operated an internship
programme for international students, Qver the past year, funds raised by INTO employees

and students have, for example, supported schocls with running costs, libraries, furniture,
safeguarding and other training.
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Statement of carbon emissions in compliance with Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting (SECR)

The group presents the following details uf its carbon usage, covenng energy use and
associated greenhouse gas emissions relating to gas, electricity and transport, intensity ratios
ard irformation relating to energy efficiency actions, comaliant with UK legislatian set out

in the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) 21 January 2021. As aliowed by the
regulations the summary below represents only the entities which meet the large size criteria for
the disclosure.

2023 2022

Total energy use covering elactricity, gas, other fuels 65,126,134 4684480 kWwh

and transport

Total emissions generated through combustion of gas 276 245 10ze
Total emissions generated through use of purchased 833 799 t(0cfe
electricity

Total emissions generated through use of heat and 390 170 tOZe
steam

Total emissions generated through business travel 19 - t02e
Total gross emissions 1516 1214 tC02e
Intensity ratio {total gross emissions) 4.39 351 kg(Qle

per sgft

Energy efficiency actions

The group is committed 1o responsible energy management and practice enargy efficency
throughout our o ganisation, wherever it is cost effective. We recognise that climate charge is
one of the most serious environmenta! challenges currently threatening the global community
and understand we have a role 1o play in reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

The board has implemented the palicies below which have increased the business’s energy
effic ency in the current financial year:

¢ Moved to increased remote home woking and extended this hybr d working offering 1o non-
student facing employees as part of its global flex brity framewark,

+  Areconsiderat onand reduction of the overall office space requirec to meet the hybrid
waorking arrangements of our employees, as well &s the introduction of solar panels and
mare efficiert lighting and reating whera possible across the properties of the group and its
joint ventures,.

Methodoiogy used in the calculation of disclosures

£50S methadolzgy {as specifiec n Complying with the Erergy Savings Opporturity Scheme
version 6, published by the Environment Agency 21/1/2021) was used in this reportin
conjunction with Government GHG reporting conversion factors.

Employees

Consultations with employees or therr representatives have continued at all levels, with the aim
of ensuring that the r visws are considerec when decisicrs are made that are likely o affect
theirinte-ests and that ail employees are aware of the financia anc eccromic busiress units and
the company as a whole Communication with all emplayees continues threugh multiple media
and employee engagement surveys are congucted periodically. Applications for employment

by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and
abiities of he apphcant concerned In the event of memaers of staff hecomirg disabled, every
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effort is made to ensure that their employmert with the company cortinues, and the appropriate
training is arranged, if reguired. [t is the policy of the company that the training, career
development and promation of a disabled person should, as far as possible, be identical to that of
a person who does not suffer a disab lity.

e continue to work hard to ensure & diverse and inclusive workforce is hired, retained, and can
thrive at INTO and that we take the opportunity 1o overcome inequity. We believe that this can
only be accomplished with a steady, sustainable, and refentless focus on initiatves that attract
diverse talent, create aninclusive culture, and develop and promote a diverse range of colleagues.
We have made signifizant progress in this area, but we are clear there is much work still 1o do and
it will remain a key focus for our executive and management teams.

INTO publishes a gender pay gap report covering the one entity on which INTO are required by
law toreport, as weil as voluntary reporting of other UK entities. The fult report can be obtained
from the INTQO corporate websiteat o, o . . o0 0

Branches outside the UK

The following branches exist outside of the UK in addition to the statutory entities listed in
Note 77:

+ |1 China the regional offices in Dalian, Shanghar and Beijing are branches of Guangzhou INTO
Education Ltd (incorperated in Chinay.

« In China there is alse a Beijing branch of OPU (Shanghai) Business Consulting Ltd (incarporated
in China}.

s Schoolapply AG has a branch based in Dubai.

= University Access Centre Vietnam has a branch based in Hanoi,

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and Directors' Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicasle law and regulations

Company law requires the a ractars 1o prepare francial statemerts for each financial year

Under that law the directors have to Jrepare the firancial statemenrts in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law, including FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of 'reiand”). Under company law the directors must not approve the firancial statemerts
unless they are satisfied that they give a true anc fair view of the state of affars and p-ofit

or loss of the campany and group for that penod. In preparing these financial statements, the
directors are required o

+  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and expia ned in the firancial statements,

« preparg the Anancial statements on the gong corcern Basis unless iT1s Irappropfiaie to
presume that the company and the group wifl continue in business.

Thea directors are responsible for keeping adeguate aczounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the firancial position of the compary a1d enable them to ensure that the financ al statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are alsa responsibie for safeguarding the assets of
the company and hence for taking reasonabile steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregulanties,

Statement of disclosure of information to auditor

Tha directors confirm that:
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+ 5o faras the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
company's auditor is unaware; and

+ thedirectors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s
auditor is aware of that information

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report in accordance wath applicable law
and regulations, Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, the directors consider the

a7 nual report and the financial statements, taker as a whole, provides the information necessary
{0 assess the company's performance, business model and strategy and is fair, balanced

and understandable.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial
infermation included on the company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may diffe- from legislation in

other jurisdictions.

Independent auditor

The audimo-, Grant Thorntan UK LLP, have indicated their wellingness to continue in office and a
resglution concerning their re-appointment will be proposed at the Board Meeting.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

Sir David Eastwsed 14/12/2023

Sir David Eastwood, Non Executive Chairman Date

14/12/2023

john Sykes, CEQ Date
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of
INTO University Partnerships Limited

Opinion

we have audited the finanaial statements of INTO University Partnerships Limited (the paren~t
company’} and ils subsidianies (the ‘group’) for the yvear ended 31 July 2023, which comprise

the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated and Company balance
sheets as at 31 July 2023, the Consclidated and Company statements of changes in equity, the
Consoldated cash flow statement for the year then ended, the principal accounting palicies ard
nates ta the financial statements. The financial reporing framewark that has been apphed in
their preparation is applicable taw and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland” {United Kingdom Cenerally Accepted Accounting Practice)

[ our opinion, the financial statements:

« gveatueand far view of the state of the group's and of the parent cormpany's affairs as at
31 July 2023 and of the group's loss for the year then ended;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (I5As

{UK)} and applicable law Our respansibilities under thase standards are further described in the
‘Auditar's iesponsibilities tor the audit of the financial statements’ section af our report. We are
independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant To nur audit of the fingn¢ @ statements in the UK, including the FRCs Ethical
Standard, and we hiave fulfilled our ather ethical -esponsibilities in accordance with these

requ rements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropniate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to geing concern

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditiors tha: may cast significant doubt on the group's
and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required 1o draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are nadeguate, to moedify the augitor's opmios,
Our conclusions are based an the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report However,
future events or conditions may cause the group or the parent company 10 cease 10 continue as
a going concern.

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with
the group's and the parent company's business model including effec s arising from macro-
eConomic uncertainties such as reduction in the mobility of international students and rising cos?
of living, we assessed and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the directars
and the related disclosures and analysec how those r sks might affect the group’s and the parent
company's financial resources or 221l ty 10 CO1t nue operatizns over the going conzern period

Im auditing the fi~ancial statements, we have concludec that the diractors’ use of the going
concern basis of account g in the praparation of the financial statements 1s appreoriate.

Based on the work we have performec, we Fave not identifiad any matenal uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that, incvidually or col ectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's
and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from when the Tnancial statemeants are authorised for issue

Our responsibilities and the respensibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are
describedin the relevant sections of this report.
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Other information

The other information compnses the infarmation included in the annual report, other than the
finarcial stalements and our auditor's report thereor The directors are responsible for the other
information contained within the arnual repart. Jur opinion or the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated inour report, we
do not express any form of assurance conctusion thereon.

Our responsibility is 1o read the other information and, In doing so. consider whether the ather
information is mater ally inconsistent with the financial statements or our know'edge ontained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required ta determine whether there
is a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we nave
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement cf this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit

« theinfornaticn given in the strategic report ard the directors’ report for the financial year for
which the financial statemerts are prepared Is consistent with the finanaal statements, and

* the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its
environment obfained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements
in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Office For Students ("OFS”)
accounts direction (issued October 2019)

Inour opinton, in all material respacts:

o funds from whatever source administered by the parent company for specfic purposes
have been properly applied to those purposes and managed in accordance with the relevant
legisiation; and

* the reguirements of the OfS's accounts direction {issued Octaber Z019) have been met.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters inrelation to which the Companies
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adeqguate
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

* the parent corpany finandial statements a2 not i~ agreement w th the 2ccounting records
and returns; or

« certain disclosures of directors' remunerat on specified by lzw zre not mace, or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibifities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors' respansibilities statement set cut on page 15, the
directors are respensible for the preparat on of the firancial statemerts and for being sat sfied
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal contral as the directors determine
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1S necessary to enable the preparation of inancial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In oreparing the inancidl statements, the directars zre responsitle for assessing the group's and
the parent company's abitity to continue as a geing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
gither intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operaticns, or have no
realistic alternative but 1o do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonatle assurance about whether the financial statements as

a whgle are free from material musstatement, whether due te fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accardance with ISAS (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists,

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considerad material i, individually or in the
agrregate, they could reasonably be expected to irf uence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of thase financial statements.

Irregutarities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. The
extent 1o which our procedures are capable of detecting iregularities, including fraud, is detailed
below

* We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to
the Company and determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to specific
assertions in the financial statements are those related to the reporting framewaorks (FRS
102, the Companies Act 2006 and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK).

*  We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risk to ail engagement
team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws
and regulations throughout the audit.

* iwe understood how the Group is complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by
making inquiries of management and those charged with governance. We corrobarated our
inquiries through review of board minutes provided by management.

» We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's financial statements to material misstatement,
including how fraud might ccour by meeting with management from relevant parts of the
business to understand areas where management considered there was a susceptibility to
fraud.

* Audit procedures performed by the engagement team on the areas where fraud might occur
included:

s evaluation of the effectiveness of management's controls designed to prevent and
detectirregularities;

» journal entries testing, with a focus on manual entries, unauthorised user entnies and
entries detarmined ta be large of relating to unusual transactions;

» identifying and testing related party transactions.

»  These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free from fraud or error, The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resultting from error and detecting
iregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that
result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further remaved non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less
likely we would become gware of it
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+  Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement team included consideration of the engagement team’s:
« understanding of, and practical experience with duJit engagements of a similar nature and
complexity through appropriate training and participation;
* knowledge of the industry in which the Group and parent Company operates; and
« understanding of the l2gal and regulatory requrrements speaific 1o the Group and the
parent Company.

A further cescription of cur responsib ities for the audit of the financial statements is located
on the Financial Reporting Council's website at; oL 1 b sl 21 1o This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company'’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report
and for no other purpese. To the fuilest extent permitted Dy law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility 1o anyone other than the company and the company'’s members as a bady, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Pdoas Torr— 14/12/2023

Adarn Terry BSc FCA Date
Senior Statutery Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP

Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants

Crawley




DocuSign Envelope 1D: 4F52F676-40B1-46E0-ABYA-954137F362A0
INTO UNIVERSITY PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year

ended 31 July 2023
St s e S AR
Note 2023 2023 Nan- 2023 2022 2022 Non-
Underlying underlying Underlying  underlying
exceptional exceptional
iterns items
£'000 £'000
Group turnover! 1 111,637 - 111,637 96,131 - 96,131
Cost of sales 42.759) - (42,759) (32,939) - (32.839)
Gross profit 68878 - 68,878 63192 - 63192
Administrative expenses 2 (59,535) (3.543) (73,078) (69,579} (329)  (65,908)
Other income 3 202 - 202 38 - 38
Group operating loss 4 (455) {3,543) (3,998) (6,349} {329) (6578)
Existing operations (455) (3543)  (3,998) {4,516) (329) (4,845)
Acquisitions - {1.833) - {1833)
Share of operating {1oss) / profitinoint 10 (4.362) £10 (3,752} {5,534 135 (5.359)
ventures
Group and share of joint ventures (4817 {2.833) (7.750) (11.883) (194) (12,077)

operating loss

Net interest and similar (charges) /fcredits

Group 6 {4,974} {4,974) 6,635 - 6635
Share of joint venturcs & {(A45) - {445) (632) - {092}
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (10.236) (2933 (13.169) (5,940 (194} (6,134
Tax onloss on ordinary activities of 7 (1.270) 716 (554) (1.827) {100) (2027
subsidiaries
Share of joint ventures taxation 7 - - - (24) (24)
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation {11,506} 2217y {13,723) (7.881) (294) (8,185)
Loss for the financial year (11,5086) 2217y  (13,723) (7.891) {794} (8,185)
Currency translation difference on foreign 3,085 - 3,085 {2,220} 12,220}
currency net investments
Total comprehensive loss for the year (8421) (2.217y  (10,638) (10,111} (294} {10,405)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent {8,746} 2217y  (10,963) (9,404} (294} (9,698)
Non-controlling interests 325 - 325 (707) - {707}
(8421) (z217) {10,638) {10,111) (294} {10,405

L Adjusted turnover which includes statutory turnover and share of joint ventures’ turnover was £159,586k (2022: £140,797k).

Please see the Strategic Report on page & for details of this.

There is ro mate-al difference between the profit an ordinary activities before taxation and the
preht for the current and prior financial yea” stated above and thei- histarical cost equiva‘ents.

The notes on pages 36 12 E1 form part of these “nancial statements,
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 July 2023

o I TR N R FT P TR R i

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 8 9,981 10,348
Tangible assets g 7.717 7801
[myestments in joint ventures 10 1,467 1,000
Investments 11 150 150
Total fixed assets 19,315 19,299
Current assets
Debtors
- amounts falling due within one year 12 110,470 93,739
- amounts falling due after ane year 12 14,506 13174
124,976 106,913
Cash at bank and in hand 14,143 9437
Total current assets 139,119 116,350
Creditars. Amounts falling due within one year 13 (46,687) (£2.749)
Accruals and deferred income 13 (69.276) (51.599)
{115,963) (74,348}
Provisions for liabilities: Amounts falling due within one year 14 (91) (3,264
Net current assets 23,065 38,738
Total assets less current liabilities 42,380 58037
Creditors' Amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (84) {100}
Provisions for liabilities: Amounts falling after more than one year 14 (2,746) {1,375}
Liabilities in respect of joint ventures 10 (46,562) (52,831)
{49.392) (54,306)
Net (liabilities)/assets (7.012) 3,731
Capital and reserves
(alled up share capital 17 1,229 1,229
Share premium account 2 7
Capital redemption reserve 75 75
Foreign exchange translation reserve 3,139 54
Non-controlling interests (725) {1,050
Profit and loss reserve (10,732) 3421
Total shareholders' {deficit)/funds (7,012) 3,731

The consolidated finarcial statements on pages 21 to 61, were approved by the Board of Directars and signed or i7s behalf Sy

o =
Sir David Easwood. 14/12/2023 A 14/12/2023

Sir Dawid Eastwood, Non Executive Chairman Date John Sykes, CEO Date

The rotes o1 pages 36 1o 51 form part of thase financial statements.
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Company balance sheet
as at 31 July 2023

ST T T

2023 2022
£000 £000
Investments 11 36,124 36124
36,124 36,124

Current assets
Debtors 12 26,733 11483
Prepayments and accrued income 17 877 581
27,610 12,064
(Cash at bank anc in hand 70 184
27,680 12,248
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 13 (20,506} {8467)
Accruals and deferred income 13 {1,831) {1L575)
(22,337} (10.042)
Provisions for liabilities: Amounts falhing due within one year 14 (33) (221)
Net current assets 5,310 1,985
Total assets less current liabilities 41,434 38,109
Net assets 41,434 38109

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 17 1,229 1,229
Share premium account 2 P4
Capital redemption reserve 75 74
Profit and loss reserve 40,128 36,804
Total shareholders’ funds 41,434 38,109

As permitted by section 408 of the Comrpanies Act 2008, no separate Jrofit ard loss account 1s
presenied in respect of the parent compzny. The result for the francial year ended 31 July 2023
of the parent company was a £3.429k profit (2022: £3,607k preht).

The financial statements an pages 21 10 61 were aporoved by the Boad of Directors and signed
on its behalf by:

St Daid Eastwosd 14/12/2023

Sir David Eastwood, Non Executive Chairman Date

14/12/2023

|ohn Sykes, CEQ Date

The notes on pages 36 1o 61 form part of these financial statements,
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 July 2023

Called Share Capital Translation Non- Profit and Total

up share premium redempticn reserve controlling loss reserve shareholders'’

tapital reserve interests funds

£000 £000 E'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000

As at 1 August 2021 1,239 2 49 2,274 {343) 10,907 14,128

Loss for the financial year - - - - (707) (7.478) (8.185)

Movements in relation to the (10 - 26 - - () 8
Management Incentive Flan

Transtation Reserve - - - (2.220) - - (2,220

As at 31 July 2022 1,229 2 75 54 (1,050} 3421 3,731

Profit/{loss) for the financial year - - - - 325 (14,048) (13.723)

Movements in relation to the - - - - - {105) {109
Management incentive Plan

Translation Reserve - - - 3085 - - 3085

As at 31 July 2023 1,229 2 75 3,139 (725) (10,732) (7,012)

The credit to the capital redemption reserve during the year represents the buy back of shares
associated with the management incentive scheme.

Tre notas on pages 35 to 61 form part of these finarcial statements
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 July 2023

Called up Share Capital Hedging Profit and Total

share premium redemption reserve lossreserve shareholders’

capital reserve funds

£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 August 2021 1,239 2 49 - 33,205 34,495

Profit for the financiar year - 3,607 3.607

Movements in relation to the Management {10) 25 - 8 7
Incentive Plan

As at 31 July 2022 1,229 2 74 - 36,804 38,109

Profit for the financia year - 34729 3479

Mowvements in relation ta the Management - 1 (105) {104}
Incentive Plan

As at 31 July 2023 1,229 2 75 40,128 41,434

The credit to the capital redemption reserve during the year represents the buy back of shares

assaciated with the management incentive scheme

The rictes on pages 36 to G1 form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 July 2023

Sewt o e e s TR

2023 2022

£000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
| 2ss Tor the finarcial vear {13,723} (8,185)
Depreciation charge 1,603 1,454
Amortisation of intangibles 3,127 3379
Impairment of intangibles - 272
Loss on dispasal of tangible assets - 171
Net interest and similar charges 4974 {6,635)
Share of loss far the firanzial year injoint ventures 3,752 5399
Share of interest payable by joint ventures 445 B892
Taxation 554 2,051
Share of profit / {|oss) attributable to minonty interests 325 (707)
Increasc in debtors {28,685) (6192
Increase / (decrease) in creditors 20,262 (25)
Cash from operations (7.366) (8376)
Income tax paid (878) (1.276)
Net cash qutflow from operating activities {8.244) (9.652)
Cash flow from investing activities
Interest received 1,643 1,489
Interest paid {2,474) (1,366)
Purcnase of tangible fixed assels {1,259) (1,229
Purcrase of intargible fixed assets (2,977) (5.441)
Purchase subsidiary (net of cash acquired) (Note 25) - 1,016
Dividends received from joint ventures 500 950
Net cash used in investing activities {4.567) (4,581)
Cash flow from financing activities
Amounts borrowed in the year 20,200
Decrease in borrowings (16} (42)
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities 20,184 142)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7373 (14.275)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 9,437 20462
Exchange adjustments (2.667) 3250
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14,143 9437
Cash and cash equivalents consists of;
(Cash at bank and in hand 14,143 9437
Cash and cash equivalents 14,143 9437

The company 1s a qualifying entity for the purposes of FRS 102 and has elected to take the
exempticn urder FRS 102, pata 1.12{b) not to present the comoany statemer® of cash flows.
The rotes or Jages 36 to 51 form part of these financial statements.
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Principal accounting policies

General information

The company s a private company limited by shares and is incorporatedn England The address
of its -epistered office is One Gloucester Flace, Brighton, United Kingdom, BNT 4AA

Statement of compliance

The group anc individual anancial statements of INTO University Partnerships L imited have been
prepared in compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 1072, 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the
Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 1027 and the Companies At 2006,

Basis of preparation

These consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on a goIiNg £oncern basis,
under the historical cost convention.

The areparation of financial statements requires the use of certair critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group and
company accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant ta the finanzial statements, are dis¢losed
on page 34

The company has taken advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Companies Act from
present ng its individuzl profit and 1oss accourt.

The fulluwiig accourting poticdies have been applied consistently in both the current and
preceding periods in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the company’s
finanqial statements These financial statements are prepared in Pounds Sterling (£} ardir
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102),
issued by the Financial Reporting Council,

The functional and presentation currency of the company is considered to be Pounds Sterling (£)
because thatis the currency of the primary economic environment in which the group operates.

Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

INTO wriversity Partnerships Lirited meets the definition o a qua ifying entity under FRS
102 and has therefore taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available toitin
respect of its separate firanzial statements, wh ch are Zresentad alongside te consclidated
financial statements

The company has taken advantage of the following exemptions inits individual
financial statements

« from the financial instrument disclosures, requirec under FRS 102 paragraphs 11.42, 1244,
1145,1147. 11.48(a)(n), 11.48(a)(iv), 11.48(h), 11.48(0), 12.26,12.27,12.29(a), 12 29(b}
anc 12.29A as the nformat onis provided in the consolidated finaacial statement d sclosures;

= from disclosing share-based payment arrangements, required under FRS 102 paragraphs
26.18(5), 76.19 t0 26.21 and 26 23, concerning its own equity instruments, as the company
financia! statements are presented with the consofidated financial statemerts and the
relevant disclosures are included therein; and

« fromdisclosing the company key management personnel compensation, as required by FRS
10¢2 paragraph 33.7.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that
the group will continue to be able to meet its liablities as they fall due for the foreseeable future,
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The COVID 19 crisis impacted the international education sector and more generally student
mobility, Management have taken steps to maintain the financial resilience of the groupin the
shart and long term through diligent liguidity planning including renegotiating the credit facilities
with its hankers.

As aresult, this uncertainty has been considered as part of the groups assessment of the going
concern basis in tne prepasation of the financial statements In prepariag this analysis the Board
have considerad the group's ability to meet its liahilities based on various fevels of reductions

in student numbers, as well as a number of cost mitigation strategies that can and have

been employed.

The group hiolds a £30m facility with HSBC Bank plc which has been extended to February 2025.
The covenants for the extension period 1o February 2025 move the facility 1o a quarterly test

of :nterest cover and leverage from April 2024 reflecting the groups pos tive performance and
outlook. Management will renegotiate this facility beyond this period at an appropriate time.
Management expect to use this facility in FY 24 to continue to invest in future growth strategies
and fund exceptional items. Management continues to menitor compliance with the covenants
required under the agreement. As at 31 July 2023 £20.2m was drawn under this facility.

The Board have consigered what level of reduction in student volumes and corresponding
mitigation would break a facility covenant and do not consider this reverse stress test scenaric a
likely occurrence, Based on these circumstances, the Board believe that it remains appropriate to
prepare the financial staterments on the going concern basis.

After considering the cask flow projections for the oened to February 2025, the directors
believe tne group has sufficient funds to meet its llabilites as they fail due and have accordingly
prepared the financial statements an a going cancern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the hinancial statements cf the company and its
subsidiary undertakings, together with the group's share of results of 1ts joint ventures made up
to 31 July 2023, with comparatives representing an annual year to 31 july 2022,

A separate statement of comprehensive income has not beenincluded for the company by virtue
of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

Where the accounting period of an entity within the group is not caterminous with the group's
accounting period of the 12 months to 31 July, the result for that entity for the 12 months to 31
{uly and the balance sheet at that date are included,

Subsidiaries
Acquisitons of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method,

inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains arlsing between the company and its
subs:dianes are elimmnated in prepanng the consclidated financial statements. Accounting palicies
of subsidiaries have been aligned where necessary to ensure cansistency with the policies
adoptad oy the group. In the parent company financial staterents investmeants in subsidiaries are
accounted for at cost less impairment,

Investments in joint ventures

The resul”s, assets and liabilities of 3 joinTly controlled ertity are incorporated in thase financia
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
in a jointly controlled entity is carried in the balance sheet at cost, plus post-acquisition changes
in the group’s share of net assets of the jeintly controlled entity, less distributions received and
less any impairment in value of the investment The group statement of comprehensive income
reflects the group's share of the results after tax of the jointiy contralled entity.
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Where necessary, adjustments are made to fingncal statements of jaintly controlled entities to
bring the accounting policies used into line with those of the group

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the group's interest in the jointly controlled entities.

The group assesses investments in jaintly controlled entities for impairment whenever events
of changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such
indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is compared with its
recaverable amount, being the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment is written down toits
recoverable amount.

In the parent company financial statements nvestments in jcint ventures are accounted fo- at
cost less imparrment

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted far by applying the purchase method.

The cost of a business combination is the fair value of the consideration given, liabitities incurred
or assumed and of equity instruments issued plus the costs directly attributable to the business
combination. wWhere control is achieved in stages, the cost is the consideration at the date of
each transaction.

Contingent consideration is initizlly recognised at estimated amount where the consideraticn is

probable and can be measured reliably. Where (i) the contingent consideration is not considered

probable or cannot be reliably measured but subsequently becomes prabable and measurable or
(i) contingent consideration previously measured is adjusted, the amounts are recognised as an

adjustment to the cost of the business combination.

On acquisition of a business, fair values are attributec 1o the identifiable assets, liahilities ard
contingent liabilities unless the fair valug cannot be measured reliably, in which case the value

is incorporated in goodwill. Intangible assets are only recognised separately from goodwill
where they are separable and arise from contractual or other legal rights. Where the fair value of
contingent liabilities cannot be reliably measured they are disclosed on the same basis as other
contingent liabilities

Coodwill recognised represents the excess of the fair value and directly attributable costs of the
purchase consideration over the fair values to the group's interest in the identfiable net assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired

On acguisition, gooawill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to
benefit from the combination,

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevalling at the dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settiement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and habifities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses on intercompany balances are retranslated
at the period end rate and gains and losses are taken to the translation reserve as appropriate.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Pounds Sterling at exchange
rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to
Pounds Sterhng at tha average rate for the year Exchange differences a=s ng on retrarslation
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of foreign operatians from the opening / average rate 1o the closing rate are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are included in the translation reserve

Intangible assets

.

Computer software
Computer software is amortised aver its estimated useful life, of 4 - 7 years, on a straight-
line basis.

Assets under course of construction represents software being developed by the group and
its subsidiaries.

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment loss. Software development is capitalised in accordance with FRS102 section
188H.

Development costs are only recagnised once the group has the ability to demonstrate the
technical feasibilty of a software project, that the project will generate future economic
benefits, and the availability of technica’, financial and other resources to complete te
project. Costs that do not falf within this criteria, including research costs and post-completion
maintanance costs, are taken directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of a subsidiary over the group's
share of the farr value of identifiable net assets acquired

Coodwill is allocated 1o cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocation is made to thase cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the business combination N which the goodwiil arose

Agency relationships

Agency retationships acquired as part of acquisitions of businesses are capitalised separately
from goodwill as intangible assets if their value can be measured reliably on initial recognitton
and 1t is prabanle that the expacted future econamic benents that are attributable to the
asset will flow 1o the group.

Goodwill and agency relationships are amortised on a systematic basis over {ts useful life,
whichis 10 -15 years. It is believed that the useful life of 10-15 years is appropriate as the
contacts in the zccuired entities are exaected 10 generate bencfits aver at least this penad

At each reporting date an assessment is conducted to review If there is any indication of
impairment. If there is objective evidence of impairment an impairment [0ss is recognised n
the statement of comprehensive income.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

| fistorical cost includes expenditure directly attributable to acquisition. Subsequent costs are
included in the assets carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when itis probatle tnhat the future economic benefits associated with the item wil flow to the
Croup and the cost of the item can be measured reliably

Esumaled depreciatior 15 made an the following basis to write off the assets over ther
estimated useful economic lives’

Land freehold Not depreciated
Buildings freehold 2% straight line
Leasehold improvements Life of the lease
Fixzures and fittings 20% - 25% straight line

Office equioment 20% - 25% straight ine
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Useful lives and residual values are feviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount 1s impaired immediately to its recoverable amount if the asser’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount

When an asset is sold or disposed of it is removed fram the balance sheet.

Employee benefits

The group provides a range of benefits to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, paid
holiday arrangemerts and defined contribution pensicn plans.

« Short term benefits
Short term benefits, ncluding noliday pay a1d other similar nan-monetary tenefits, are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the service is received.

« Defined benefit multi employer plans
Certain of the employaes 0F the g-oup's joint ventures are members of defined benefit
pension schemes as a result of their being transferred from the partner university 1o the joint
venture under TUPE arrangements when the joint ventures were formed. Liabilities in respect
of each joint venture's requrad contribumions to deficit recovery plans are included withir
the share of iabilities in relation to joint ventures at the balance sheet date. In relation to a
scheme administered by Newcastle University it has been agreed that liabilities relating to
the recovery of this dehat will be met by the shareholding companies of NUINTO Limited, a
related company which holds these employees’ contracts of employment. A provision of E32k
has therefore been provided in the financial statements recognising the group's liability in
respect of this deficit.

« Annual bonus plan
The group operates a number of annual honus plans for empioyees. An expense is recognised
N the pofit and 1oss account when the group has « legal or censtructive obligation ta make
payments under the plans as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

» Long term incentive plans
The company operates a long term incentive plan for certain key emplaoyees and Direc tors
which is accounted for under the provisions of FRS102. See Note 21 for details of
the scheme

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party 1o the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Al financigl assets and liab lities are measured at
transaction price and continue to be recognised at that amount unless evidence exists as to any
potential impairment.

Basic financial assets, including trace and cther receivables, cash and bank balances and
investments, and bas.c finanaial liabilities, including trade and other payables, are recogrisec at
fair value which is normally the transaction price

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the provision
of servicesin the ordinary course of the group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added
tax and amounts due to third parties and after elimination of revenue within the group.

Amounts invoiced in advance of seryices being performed are deferred within creditors due in
less than one year until the service is performed. Where services are performed prior 1o amounts
being invoiced, amounts are recognised as accrued income within debtors.
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« Tuition
Tuition fees represent all fees chargeable to students or their sponsors, attributable to
The rurrent accounting year, net of discounts. Tuition fecs are attributed to accounting
periods based on the tuition actually provided in that period. The costs of any fees waived or
discounts are deducted from tuition fee income.

+ Accommodation
Accommodation fees are spread over the period of occupancy to which they relate.

+ Catering and other ancillary services
Catering income represents the sale of food and beverages from ancillary catering facilities
and other services performed on students’ hehalf. Revenues are recognised in the period that
they are provided.

+ Management and corporate services fees
Marketing services, management services and other corporate services are provided by the
group 1o its joint ventures. Such turnover is recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are provided. The majority of these fees are basec on services performed over a fixed
period of time {monthly or quarterly) and are spread evenly over that period.

+ Progression fees
The group receives contractual payments from certain Universities in relation to students
progressing to join the University from INTO study centres and from direct applicants joining
the University as a result of marketing activity conducted by the group.

Far students applying directly to join the University, turnover is recognised at the point
students accept and become entitled to & place to study at the University and is recognised
for all future payments in fuil less 3 provision for estimated student withdrawals

For students progressing from INTO study centres turnover is recognised based on the
current student cohart and historic student progression data from individual study centres.
furnaver is recagnised for all future payments in full less a pravision for estimated student
withdrawals, discounted where appropriate.

In some cases, INTO has additional obligations relating 1o the receipt of progression fees,
relating tc the provision of scholarships to pathway students. In those cases revenues are not
recognised until those abligations are met,

» Placement / Commission fees
Contractual payments are recejved from certain education providers in relation to placing
students where the group acts as agent. Such turnover is recognised at the point students
accept and become entitled to a place to study and only the agency commission dugis
recognised as revenue, The Group also receives marketing fees, that are based on student
numbers, from its joint ventures which are accounted for as commission fees and recognised
over the period of tuition

» Student deposits and credit balances
The group holds credits on its batance sheet in relation to deposits and other credits held
on behalf of students. In some cases in spite of multiple attempts to contact the relevant
individuals the group1s unable to identify an account inta which to return the funds These
amounts are released 1o the Starement of comprehensive income after they become non-
refundable.

* Rental income
Rentalincome receivable is racognised in the period ta which it relates.

+ Otherincome
Other income represents government grants received under the Coronavirus fob retention
scheme. The amounts are recognised using the accrual model.
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Operating leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis
over the term of the lease.

Contingent liabilities

Because of the nature of the business it is possible that from time to time the group witl enter
into disputes with therd aarties. Cantingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility of an outflow
of economic benefit to settle the obligation is more than remote.

In approving these financial statements, the Board cf Directors have zorfrmed their view that
no further provisions need 1o be booked in respect of such matters. See Note 23 for details of
contingent lighilities.

Share based payments

The group provides share-based payment arrangements to certain employees and Directors.
These arrangements include shares which have distribution rights in the event of a share sale
or capital return. Equity settled arrangements are measured at fair value at the date of the
grant. The fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The amount
recognised as an expense 1s adjustec to reflect the actua numoer of shares that wiil vest. Cash
seftled arrangements are measured at fair value and the fair value of the liability is recalculated
at each reporting date, The Directors take into account vanious factors, including the scheme
rules, the award value and the likelihood of a qualifying event when deciding whether to
recognise an expense in relation 1o these arrangements.

Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporate tax and foreign tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be
paid using the tax rates and laws enacted o substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respact of a | timing differences that nave originated but not
reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to
pay mare tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance
sheet date and the reversal of these items is deemed likely. Deferred tax is provided at amounts
expected 1o be paid using the tax rates and laws enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date that are expected to apply to the reversal ¢f the timing difference. Deferred tax s

not provided far unused tax (0sses due to current uncertainties surrounding the reversal of the
urderlying differences.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-
term hughly fiquid investments with original maturties of three months or less

Administrative exceptional items {non-underlying)

The group c-assifies certain one-off charges or credits that have a material mpact on the

group’s inznce results as ‘exceptional itemrs’ These are disclasec separately to provide further
understanrding of the financial zerfarmance of the group, Included in the “ron-underlying” columre
in the consolidated statement of cormprehensive income.

Agent Commission

Commission paid to third party agents, where the entity has a right to recover the payments in
the event the student leaves before the completion of their course, are deferred an the halance
sheet and recogrised over the same period as the related student revenue. Payments made
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where the entity has no recourse to recover them are expensed as they are earned by the
third party.

Ditapidations

Provisions for dilapidations represent managemenit's best estimate of liabilities inrespect of
dilapidations clauses likely to arise on expiry of the group's property leases, These amounts are
included within provisions for liabilities and charges and are discounted at an appropriate rate.

Share capital, share premium and capital redemption reserve

The called-up share capital reserve represents the nominal value of the shares issued. Qrdinary
shares are classified as equity The share prem um reserve includes the premium on issue of
equity shares, net of any issue costs. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, against share premium, The
capital redernption reserve is a reserve generated from the buyback of shares associated with
the management incentive scheme.

Translation reserve

Exchange differences ansing on a monetary item that forms part of the company's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised in other comprehensive income and are
accumulated in the translation reserve

Profit and loss reserve

This represents cumulative profits or losses, net of dividends paid and other adjustments.

Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the drcumstances

Accounting judgements

« Software capitalisation
The decision to capitalise a software project and recognise within intangible assets is taken
by management when they deem the recognition criteriz under FRS 102 to have been met.
Costs incurred prior to this point where the ultimate feasibility has not been established are
taken 1o the statement of comprehensive income.

» Commercial dispute
As detailed in Note 23 the group is subject to an ongoing commercial dispute in relation to
one of its woint ventures, The Board deem it probabie that the INTO group will be successful
in this case. Therefore whilst providing for legal costs incurred to date, and for any debt in
relation to this entity that it considers not to be recoverable, the group has continued to
recognise income in relation to services provided to the joint venturce in the period as the
Board believe this can be recovered in cash from the relevant joint venture. The Board have
provided in full for Progression fees due fram the partner university, which are still being
reclaimed as part of damages in the ongoing case, but where the likelinood of recovery is not
considered to be sufhicientiy likely to warrant rezognition.

Key accounting estimates and assumptions

In the application of the groups accounting policies the directors are required to make key
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and labilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and ather factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimatas
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised ang / or future
period as applicable.

The following a e the key accounting est mates and assumpt ons that have the most significant
effect an the amounts recogrised in the finandal statements.

+ Progression fees
The estimation of contractual payments in relation to students progressing to partner
Universities from INTO study centres is the largest estimate in the year The key assumptions
are inrelation to student volumes which incorporates a drop-out rate and the discounting rate
which is based on the group's current cost of borrowing.

« Commission fees
Certain commission fees receivable which relate to students progressing to partner
universities are based on estimates of the number of students likely to progress as well as
the average commission payable. These calculations are based on past experience and on
increases in the partner's average fees, on which the commission payable is based.

+ Useful economic lives of tangible and intangible assets
The annual depreciation charge for tangible and intangible assets is sensitive to changes in
the estimated useful economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic
lives and residual values are reassessed annually. They are amended when necessary to
reflect current estmates, based on technological advancement, future investments, 2conomic
utilisation and the physical condition of the assats. See Notes 8 and 9 for the carrying amount
and Principal accounting policies for the useful economic lives for each class of assets.

« (Capitalisation of costs relating to intangible assets
Internal costs are treatad as additions to intangible fixed assets on yif they ae deemed to
meet the criteria associated with development of intangible assets noted above. These costs
include internal staff costs which are recognised at an appropriate rate dependent on the
salaries of the individuals involved. Costs relating to intangible assets also include directly
incurred external costs which are racognized as they occur.

* Recoverability of debtors
Debtars are disclosed in the financizl statements net of provisions for amcunts that are
not considered likely to be recovered. These amounts are assessed on a case-by-case basis
depending on the specific facts and croumstances pertaining to each debt, and management
considers amounts provided to represent its best estimate of the amounts unlikely to
be recovered.

» Impairment of non-financial assets
In addition to the assessment performed above on useful lives of tangible and intangitle
assets, non-financial assets are reviewed at least annually far ary ingications of impairment,
and where there exists an indication that their book values may not be supported by their
value in use of resale value, an imparrment is recognised

+ Provisions for liabilities
The provision in the year relates to a charge in respect of settlement of disputes and
assogiated costs. They also included estimated liabilities likely to anse on expiry of the group’s
property leases inrespect of dilapidation provisions Management considers these provisions
to represent a prudent assessment of the likely settlement and costs.

+ Share based payments
During the year the company recognised a total expense of £nil related to equity share based
paymentsin the year (2022 £8k} directly “o the profit ard 1oss “eserve, as well as a £105k
credit within administrative expenses relating to management awards that have lapsed, as
aresult of the relevant indiyiduals leaving the company. A credit of £187k (2022 £33k}
related to cash settled share-based payments has also been recognised within administrative
expenses {see Note 21).
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Turnover

2023 2022
E'000 £'000
Geographical analysis
UK 75,165 654,646
North America 29,946 ’l277
South America 70
Asia 4,222 4108
Australia 2,234 100
111,637 96,131

Ceographical analysis s based on the country in which the services are recelved.

All turnover is dertved from services provided inrelation to the provision of education and
marketing services for international students.

2 Administrative exceptional items

Administrative exceptional items totaling £3,543k related to a £1,468k charge in respect

of disputes, restructuring severance costs of £1,875k, a release of £293k in relation 1o
irrecoverable debt from related parties, a £488k charge in respect of Covid recovery bonuses paid,
a credit of £105k in respect of share based payments, and losses on terminaticn of property
leases of £110k

In the prior year administrative exceptional items totaling £329k related to a charge of £272k in
relation to software impairment, a £550k charge in respect of disputes, restructuring severance
costs of £581k, a release of £3801k in relation toirrecoverable debt from related parties, and a
profit on the reassignment of a property of £1 73k

3 Otherincome

2023 2022
£'000 £000
Government grants 202 38

Otherincome in the current year represents amounts received in respect of research and
devetopment tax credits and is recognised as the amounts become due.

Otherincome in the prior year represented amounts received in respect of the government's
Corcnavirus Job Suppart Scheme and wdas recognised as the amounts become due.
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4 Group operating loss

The operating loss is stated after charging/{crediting):

Amortisation of intangible assets 3127 3,379
Depreciation of tangible assets 1,603 1,454
Impairment of intangible assets - 272
Loss on disposal of tangible assets - 171
Operating lease charges 11,802 8,855
Foreign exchange loss (265) {545}

The group received £652k (2022: £3G3k] in respect of rental income from a third party to
which it sublet a property. The lease agreement contains a break clause which enables either
party to exit the lease with nine months’ notice

Services provided by the Company’s auditors

Fees payable for the audit of the company's annual 100 80
financial statements

Fees payable for other services - audit of 145 131
subsidiaries pursuant 1o legislation

Fees payable for other services - other advisory 8 11

The company's auditars alse audit a number of the joint ventures, The amounts disclosed above
do not include fees payable by the respective joint ventures for those services.

5 Staff costs

Staff costs comprise:

GROUP 2023 2022
£000 £'000

Wages and salaries 46,815 41,637
Social security costs 5,385 4817
Pension costs 3,055 3011
55,255 49,560

COMPANY

Wages and salaries 3,477 3817
Social security Costs 493 518
Pension Costs 255 251

4,225 4,580
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5 Staff costs (continued)

The average monthly number of empioyees guring the year was as follows:

GROUP 2023 2022

Number Number

Teaching 293 275
Marketing 237 248
Admission and enrolment 139 107
Adrministration 423 413
1,082 1043

COMPANY 2023 2022
Number Number

Marketing 8 7
Administration 14 16
22 23

Directors’ remuneration 2023 2022
E'000 £000

Uirectors’ remuneration consists of

Emoluments 1,237 919
Payments 1o defined contribution gension scheme 24 17
1,261 936

There were 5 cirectors n the company’s defined contribution pensicn scieme during the year
{2022 2).

The emoluments of the highest paid director in the year were £395k (2022: £410k). Payments
to defined contribrion pension scheme inrespect of the highest 2aid directer were £nil

(2022 £14k) Key management personnel are considered 1o be directors only and therefore is
disclosed above.

As required by the Office far Studerts in its accounts directior Delow are the number of staff
with & full time equivalent basic safary over £ 100k per annum in bands of £5k. Please note that
as INTO University Partnerships Limited is a global group this disclosure will include any entities it
controls on a worldwide basis.
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5 Staff costs (continued)

GROUP 2023 2022
Number of employees with  Number of employees with

full time equivalent basic  fuil time equivaient basic
salary paid in each band salary paid in each band

8
3
5
3
3
3
2 )
4
1
1
1
3

E100,000 10 £104,999
£105,000 to £109,599
£110000 to £114,939
£11500010 £119599
£120,000 to £124,999
£125000 10 £129,999
£130,000 t0 £134,999
£1350001t0 £139.999
£140,000 10 £144,999
£14500010 £149939
£150,000 10 £154,959
£15500010 £159939
£160,000 10 £164,999 - 1

[AV N RV 5 B RN

£190000 10 F194,999
£195.000 10 £199.939
£200.000 10 £204,959

[}

£210000 10 £214.959

£215,000 10 £219,999

£220,000 0 £224,989

£225000 to £229,999

£230.000 0 £234,9%9 1

£235,000 10 E239,999

£240.000 0 £244,9%9 1 1
£245,000 w0 £249,999 1

£250,000 to £254,999 - 1
£255,000 w0 £259.999 1

£285,000 t0 £289.999 - 2

£310.000 10 £314.959 1

£350.000 10 £354.989 - 1

£360,000 10 £365,000 1

£395,000 to £399,000 - 1
Total 48 48
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5 Staff costs (continued)

Remuneration of the head of provider

The head of provider's base pay and total remuneration is managed by the INTQ Board of
Directors and Remuneration Committee. INTO is a commercial organisation with operations
globally and as such it recruits senior people against this background. The head of provider is not
only responsible for our UK education centres but also as a member of the Board of Directors The
individual holding the head of provider rale has respansibifity which extends globally. Base pay
and total remuneration are benchmarked by specialist advisors using high quaiity commercially
available data appropriate to the role, responsibility and seniority Performance is assessed
considering objectives set by the Chairman at the beginning of each year with at least mid-year
and end of year reviews against both specific objectives and individual ccmpetencies required for
the role 1t is the responsibility of the Remuneration Committee to review and recommend (to the
Board of Directors) regarding all aspects of remuneration for the head of provider as well a5 ather
senior employees. This review is completed at {east annually, considering market conditions as
well as company and individual performance, to ensure the package is appropnate.

The head of provider remuneration is disclosed below:

HEAD OF PROVIDER 2023 2022

£000 £000
Basic salary 234 227
Payments in lieu of pension contributions 11 11

Payments of diidends - -
Performance related bonuses - -
Pension contributions - -
Salary sacrifice arrangemens 1 1
Compensation for loss of office -

Other remuneration - -
Total 246 239

The head of provider's basic salary is 7 times the median basic salary of staff (2022 7 times)
where the median pay is calculation on a full-time equivalent basis for the salaries paid by the
provider to its staff.

The total compensation for [ass of officeis £731k 1o 48 staff members (2022 £254k to 11
staff members). Nore of the compensation faor loss of offices re ated 10 e head of provider.
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6 Netinterest and similar charges

GROUP 2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Unrealised exchange (losses)/gains (4.587) 6512
Bank interest payable (975) (39
Bank interest receivable 261 31
Loan interest receivable from related parties 651 757
Othernterest payable and similar charges (659) (7089)
Other interest receivable and simitar credits 335 83
{4974} 6,635
SHARE OF JOINT VENTURES' 2023 2022
£'000 £'000

Unrealised exchange fosses (1)
Bank interest payable (303) {1485)
Bank interest receivable 121 11
Loan interest payable to related parties (537) {472)
Other interest recejvable / (payable) and similar 275 (85)

_c___redits /{charges)

] (445) (652)
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7 Tax on loss on ordinary activities

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
a} Tax on loss on ordinary activities
Current tax:
UK corparation tax on losses for the year 73 2803
Foreign corporation tax on losses of the year 420 313
Tax charge / {credit) relating to the prior period 224 {10395}
Total current tax charge 717 2121
Deferred tax:
Effect of charges in the tax rate - -
Qrigination ard reversal of temporary differerices 76 (124)
Tax {credit) / charge relating to the prior period (239) 54
Total deferred tax (credit) (163) (709
Tax on loss an ordinary activities including 554 2051
share of joint venture taxation
b) Factors affecting the total tax charge
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation {13,169) {6,134}
Tax calculated at the domestic UK rate applicable (2,765) {1,165}
2023:21% {2022 19%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible 3,759 2930
Income not taxable (871} (1.067)
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates 109 (228
Difference in tax rates (2) -
Deferred tax not recognised 338 2522
Prior year agjustment (14) (1,041}
Total tax charge 554 2051

¢} Factors that may affect future tax charges:

Deferred tax has been recognised at a rate of 21%. Deferred tax was recognised at a rate of 19%

at 31 July 2022.

Ceductible temoorary differerces anc unused tax losses for which no deferred lax asset has
been recognised totals £16,793k (2022 £10,906k) This asset has not been recognised in the
financia statements due [C current urcertainties surrounding the reversal of the under ying
differences. This deferred tax esset would De recovered if there wore future taxable profits from
which the reversal of (he underlying differerce could be deducted.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the group

can control the timing of any dividends payable
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8 Intangible assets

Goodwilk Agency Computer Assets under
relationships software course of
tonstruction
£000 £000 £'000
Cost
At 1 August 2022 8112 1.440 14,766 2316 26,634
Additions - - 590 4599 5189
Reclassification from assets under - - 4,656 {4.656)
construction
Disposals - - (303} (2.21e) {3,115}
Foreign exchange (362} {(99) 74 (?1) {420)
At 31 July 2023 7,750 1341 18171 26 28,288

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 August 2022 5640 790 9856 - 16,286
Charge 397 111 2619 - 3127
Disposals - - (803) - {(903)
Forcign exchange (236) (65) 98 - {203
At 31 July 2023 5801 836 11,670 - 18,307

Net bock value
At 31 july 2023 1,949 505 7,501 26 9,981

At31july 2022 2472 650 45810 2316 10,348

Disposais include software developed by the group's subsidiaries that is sold to the group's
joint ventures,

Amortisation is charged to administrative expenses in the consclidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The carrying value of the goodwill balance includes £1,355k in relation to the acquisition of
International Student Education Services, Inc, which has been subsequently subsumed Dy the
group's direct entry business, The goodwill is being amortised over 15 years, 5 years of which
remain at 31 July 2023,
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9 Tangible assets

Land & buildings Land & buildings Fixtures & Office
freehold leasehold fittings equipment
improvements
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Cost

At 1 August 2022 1,032 8129 1847 4,209 15,217
Additions - 645 113 501 1,259
Disposals - (49) {329) (1.009) (1.387)
Foreign exchange - 125 (23) (67) 35
At 31 July 2023 1,032 8,850 1.608 3,634 15124

Accumulate depreciation

At 1 August 2022 2l4 3177 1093 2932 7416
Charge for the year 20 645 373 615 1603
Disposals - (49) (329) {1.00%) (1,387
Foreign exchange - (58) (32) (135) (225)
At 31 July 2022 234 3,715 1,055 2,403 7.407

Net book value
At 31 July 2023 798 5,135 553 1,231 7,717

At 31 July 2022 818 4952 754 1277 7,801

Depreciation s charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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10 Investments in joint ventures

GROUP 2023 2022
£'000 £'000

Share of assets

Share of current assets 32,036 33413
Share of fixed assats 6,905 7538
38,941 40952
Share of liabilities

Ligbilities due within one year (79,261) (86,733
Liabilities due after more than one year {4,775) {6,050)
Share of net liabilities (45,095) (51.831)

Presented on the balance sheet as:
Investrment in joint ventures 1,467 1,000
Liahilities inrespect of joint ventures (46,562) (52,831)
(45,095} (51.831)
Share of turnover 47,951 42226
Share of expenses {51,703) (47625}
Share of operating loss (3.752) {(5,399)

Administrative exceptional credits in the year totaling £61 0k related to a release of provisions in
relation to disputes of £9k, a credit of £982k from a prowvision against debts from related
parties, costs of Covid recovery bonuses of £99k, and restructuring costs of £282k.

Administrative exceptional credits in the prior year totaling £135k related ta a release of a
provision in relation to disputes of £281k, a charge of £121k from & provision against debts from
related parties and restructuring costs of £25k

A significant joint venture is defined as one which represerts 25% of the group’s {excluding
joint ventures) gross assets, gross liahilities, turnover or operating result. Results of individually
significant joint ventures are disclosed in rote 24
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11 Investments

Other

Investments

£000

At 1 August 2022 150
At 31 July 2023 150

COMPANY Investment in Other
subsidiaries investments
£'000 £'000
At 1 August 2022 36,020 104 36,124
At 31 July 2023 36,020 104 36,124

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying
net assets.

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of the investment in subsidiaries and other
investments and believe that ne impairment of the Company's investments is required due to the
future forecast cash flows of these ent ties supporting the current carrying value

Afulllist of the subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group can be found in Note 22.
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12 Debtors
GROUP 2023 2022
£'000 £000
Due within ane year:
Trade debtors 40,920 22,098
Amounts owed by related undertakings (Note 19) 34,969 47690
Corporation Tax 1,836 28
Other debtors 9,355 6180
Prepayments and accrued income 23,390 17,743
110,470 93,739
Due after more than one year:
Amounts owed by related undertakings (Note 19) 4,300
Prepayments and accrued income 10,206 13174
14,506 13174

Trade debtors for the group is stated net of a £23%k provision for bad debts (2022 £273k)

Amounts owed by related undertakings are as disclased by entity in Note 19, These amounts
are unsecured and have no fixed repayment date. Interest 1s charged or formal loan ba ances and
discinsedin Nnte 19

Amounts owed by related undertakings for the group is stated net of a £3,167k provision for
related party bad debts (2022: £2,952k),

COMPANY 2023 2022
£000 £'000

Due within ane year:

Trade debtors 139 113
Amounts owed by group undertakings 25,343 10,732
Amounts owed by related undertakings (Note 19] 265 298
Corporation tax 475
Deferred tax 414 239
Other debtors 97 101
26,733 11,483
Prepayments and accrued income 877 581

Trade debtors for the campany is stated net of a Enil pravision for bad debts (2027 Enil).

Amounts owed by groud undertak ngs tn the company are unsecured and have no fixed
repayment date.
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13 Creditors

GROUP 2023 2022
£°000 £000

Amaunts falling due within one year:

Bank loans 20,200
Trade creditors 7631 4525
Amounts owed ta related undertakings (Note 19) 2,824 3,229
Other taxation and social security 1,222 1,174
Other creditors 14,810 13821
46,687 22749
Accruals 13,114 13558
Deferred income 56,162 38041
69,276 51599

Amaunts owed to related undertakings are as disclosed by entity in Note 19, These amounts
are unsecured and have nc fixed repayment cate. Interest is payabie on formal loan balances as
disclosed in Note 18,

Loans due within one year represent the elements of the Tdulities showenin Note 15 that are
repayable within one year.

COMPANY 2023 2022
£'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Loans 15,200
Trade creditors 48 g8t
Amounts owed 10 group undertakings 3,580 5174
Amounts owed to related undertakings (Note 19) 1,043 1,056
Corporation tax - 1,451
Other taxation and social security 423 374
Other creditors 212 281
20,506 8467
Accruals 1,500 1,330
Deferred income 331 245
1831 1,575

Loans due within ane year represent the elements of the facilities shown in Note 15 that are
repayable within one year

Armounts owed 10 group and -elated underiakings are u~secured ard have no fxed
repayment date.
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14 Provisions for liabilities

Potential
settlement of

disputes
£'000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Atl August 2022 1,130 2,134 3,264
Charged - 58 59
Reclassiqcation to amounts due after more than cne year - {1,835) (1.835)
Utilised (1,101) - (1,101)
Released to statement of comprehensive income (29) (267) {296}
At 31 July 2023 - 91 91

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

At 1 August 2022 - 1,375 1,375
Charged - 41 41
Reclassificaticn from amounts due within one year - 1,835 1,835
Released to statement of comprehensive income - {505) (505)
At 31 July 2023 - 2,746 2,746
COMPANY Other Total

£'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year

At 1 August 2022 221 221
Charged 55 55
Utilised (17) (17)
Released to statement of comprenensive income (226) (226}
At 31 july 2023 33 33

Provisions for the Company include £nil (2022 £nil) faling due after more than one year,

On 15th July 2022 proceedings were filed in a US court seeking a declaratary judgmertin re atian 1o
a commercial dispute to which an INTO group entity is a party. INTO group opposes the declaration
{which has sLbsequenrtly been dropped) and has filed a dfaim for damages against the pa-t.es who
brought this action. The same party Fas alsa filed another daimin relation to costs incurred in
relation to recruitment of students being stopped for this entity. INTO have provided for legal fees
up ta 31 July 2023 in relation to this ongeing litigation. Further legal fees in relation to this case are
expected to be incurred in FY 24 in respect of this dispute and have been included in the forecasts
for this period. Full provision has been made in FYZ3 against the debt pasition of INTO group in
relation to this claim . The total provision amount has not been disclosed in relation to this item as it
is deemned it would be prejudicial to do so.

Provisions for habllities at 31 july 2023 falling due after more than one year comprise casts
of dilapidations.

The directors consider that the provisions cover their best estimate of the likely settternent and costs
in each case.
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15 Creditors; amounts falling due after more than one year

GROUP 2023 2022
£000 £000

Long term

Loans due after one year 84 100

The table below details loan facilities used by the group.

Amount outstanding

Facility Security Interest rate 2023 2022
£000 £'000
Revolving credit facility Charge over the company’s 3.3% plus SONIA 20,200
assets as disclosed in Note 18
Commercial mortgage loan Charge against the freehold 3.8% above the H5BC Bank ple 84 100
agreement property of the group Sterling Base rate
20,284 100

The maturity of long term borrowings is as follows:

GCROUP 2023 2022
£000 £000
Between 2 and 5 years 84 100

16 Analysis of changes in net funds

At 1 Avgust 2022 Foreign Exchange Other At 31 July 2023
£000 E'000
£000 £000
(ash at bank and in hand 9437 (2.667) 7373 14,143
Borrowings {100} - (20184} (20,284}

Net funds 9337 (2,667) (12811) (6,141}
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17 Called up share capital - Group and Company

Allotted, called up and fully paid 2023 2022

£'000 £'000
67,500,000 Al Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 675 675
22,500,000 B1 Crdinary Shares of £0.01 each 225 225
22,788,800 Deferred Shares of £0.01 each 228 228
6,170,861 C Ordinary Shares of E0.0L each 62 62
100,000 D Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 1 1
1,000,000 € Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 10 10
2,846,341 F Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each 28 28

1,229 1229

Al Ordinary Shares:

The Al ardinary shares carry one vote on a written resolution and one vate on a reselution on a poll
taken at a meeting. The holders of the Al ordinary shares also have the right to vote on a resolution
on a show of hands at a meeting. On a distribution of capital, the holders of AL ordinary shares

are entitled to participate in accordance with the formulae set out in the Company's articles of
association. The Al ordinary shares are not redeematile,

B1 Ordinary Shares:

The B1 ordinary shares carry one vate on a written resolution and one vote on a resolution on

a poll taken at a meeting. The holders of the B1 ordinary shares also have the right to vote ona
resolution on a show of hands at a meeting. On & distribution of capital, the holders of B1 ordinary
shares are entitled to participate in accordance with the formulae set cut in the Company's articles
of assaciation. The B1 ordinary shares are not redeemable.

Deferred Shares:

The Deferred shares do not carry any rights to recelve notice of or to attend or vote at any
general meeting of the Company or (o receive a copy of or to vote on any written resolution of
the Company. The holders of Deferred shares are not entitled to participate in any dividend or
capital distribution The Deferred shares are not redeemable.

C, D, € and F Ordinary Shares:

The C. D, E and F ordinary shares do not carry any rights ta receive natice of or to attend or vote at
any general meeting of the Company or to receive a copy of or 1o vote on any written resclution
of the Company. The C, . E and F ordinary shareholders will not have any rights to participate

in any distribution of capital upon winding up except in accordance with the formula set outin
the Company's articles of association. The C, 0, E and F ordinary shares are not redeemable The

F shares issued in the year mirmor the benefits of the C shaves othe- than partiZipating in any
distribution in the event of a partial sale.

See Note 21 for details of share based payments issued.
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18 Financial commitments

The following reflects the miimum total future commitments under operating leases for the
group cempanies analysed by the remaining uncancellable [ease term:

GRGOUP 2023 2022
£000 £'000

Land and Buildings:

Within one year 12611 11,466
Between two years and five years 53,800 44,740
Aftar five years 345,821 186827
412,232 243,033

COMPANY 2023 2022
£000 £'000

Land and Buildings:

Within one year 447 549
Between two years and five years 1,154 2,326
1,601 2,975

The lease payments recognised as an expense in the year are £11,802k (2022: £8,855k)

There are debentures over assets held in INTO University Partnerships Limited, INTQ Manchester
Limited, INTO London World Education Centre Limited, Delts Language Training & Consultancy
Limited, INTO Londen MDX Street LLP, Friars 607 Limited, Newincco 1306 Limited, Newincco
1183 Limited, INTQ Newcastle University LLP and INTO USA LP in relaticn to a Revolving Credit
Facility in place with HSBC PLC. In addition, there is a Security Agreement in place with IUP 2 LLP
in relation to the same credit facility which grants security over its assets. As at 31 July 2023
£20.2m of the £30m revolving credit facility was drawn (2022 £nil).



DocuSign Envelope ID: 4F52F676-40B1-46E0-AB9A-854137F362AD

INTO UNIVERSITY PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED

19 Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exempliuns available under MRS 102, not to disclosc
any transactions or balances with entities that are 100% controlled by INTO University
Partnerships Limited,

The fundamental core of the group's business model is entering into joint venture partnerships
with leading Universities tc furnish overseas students with the requisite qualifications to enter
onto undergraduate or postgraduate courses at those establishments.

The group provides Management and Corparate Services to these partnerships, and alse makes
inans to and receves [pans from these partnerships a* the interest rates specified below

During the year the group entered into the following transactions with related parties, and had
the following balances at year end:

2023 2023 2023

E'000 E'000 £000

Sales Purchases Interest

receivable/

(payable)

INTOUEA LLP 2,309 387 -

INTO University of Exeter LLP 5431 166 -

INTO Scotland LLP - - -

INTO Queen's LLP 3,457 250 63

INTO City LLP 3,786 136 -

INTO USF inc 2121 284 -

INTOQ Oregon State University inc 6,959 - 69

INTO CSU LLC (106) - -

INTO Marshall LLC - - -

INTO Mason LLC 1,437 - -

INTO New York at Drew LLC 1,786 1 316
INTO Stirling LLP 1,335 21

INTO UAB LLC 1,789 19 (73)
INTO Washington State University LLC (3.347) -

INTO llinots State University LLC (896} 310 99

INTO Suffalk LLC 2,487 - 176
Espalier Ventures Limited 15 1

Criterion £nterprises Limited - -

2023
£000
Trading
balance

162
(1,045)

827

243
727
2,939
4,085

1773
77
109
1793
(6)

3,284
76

786
983

2,241
5,818
4,300
3,146

2,753

2023
£000
Interest rate

None
N/A
N/A

Bot
Base+2%

None
N/A
B%
5%
N/A
5%
5%
Nane
4%
N/A
N/A
6%
N/A
N/A
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19 Related party transactions (continued)

2022 2022 2022 2022
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000

Purchases Interest Trading Interest rate
recetvable balance

INTO UEA LLP 1,945 33 - 124 - None
INTO University of Exeter LLP 4,721 1 - (1050) - N/A
INTO Scotland LLP (1,127) - - - - N/A
INTO Queen's LLP 2,887 7 19 1,000 1,150 BoEBase+2%
INTO City LLP 3325 18 - (2179) - None
INTO USF inc 2,029 - - 2332 - N/A
INTO Oregon State University inc 3135 - 66 2416 821 8%
INTO CSULLC - - - 4,448 1,005 5%
INTO Marshall LLC {2.867) (2) - - - N/A
INTO Mason LLC 1,252 (3) - 2137 2.339 5%
INTO New York at Drew LLC 894 - 308 G7 5827 5%
INTO Stirling LLP 931 4 - 159 4,300 None
INTO UAB LLC 370 - 66 2441 3.283 4%
INTO Washington State University LLC 1 - 165 2059 2,749 N/
INTO lllinpis State University LLC 15 - - (515) 4924 &%
INTO suffalk L.C 1.764 - 173 1722 2837 B%
Espalier Ventures Limited 22 63 - - - N/A
Criterion Enterprises Limited 78 - - 78 - N/A

All loans and trading balances are unsecured ang have nc fixed repayment date, with the
exception of the loan to INTQ Stirling LLP which is due for repayment in 2038, according to the
terms of the formal loan agreement signed in August 2022

Al related parties identified above are 50% owned by the group, with the exception of Espaier
Ventures Limited, which is the group's ultimate parent company, and Criterion Enterprises Limited,
acompany with | B Sykes as a common director.

20 Ultimate controlling party

The company’s immediate parent and ultimate parent undertaking is Espalier Ventures Limited, a
company registered in the United Kingdom. The ultimate controlling party is A ] Colin.

Accordingly, the largest and smaliest group into whach the results of the company are
consolidatec, as a 31 July 2023, 15 Espaiter Veniuras Limited These financial statements are
avziatle to the public anc Tay be ohtared from the registered office at One Gloucaster Place,
Brighton, BNL 4AA.
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21 Share-based payments

The company has a Management Incentive Plan {"MIP") where certain key employees and
Directors have been awarded C, B, and F shares in the company.

Details of the shares awarded are as follows'

Total number of

shares awarded £'000
| B Sykes 100,000 1
S G Smale 1,997,652 20
0 S Eastwoeod 258,000 ¢
All other qualfying staff 6,761,550 68
Total 9,117,202 91

The shares will vest on a Share Sale or Capital Return. Subject to the vesting conditions, the
amount available for aistribution to the sha-eholders is based on a defined hurdle share value.
The value of the shares when the capital distribution amount exceeds the hurdle share value is
determined us.ng a formula defined in the Articles of Association of the company.

The value of the shares is determined using a capitalisation of earnings method which
encapsulates the growth prospects and risks related to the future earnings. Costs are recognised
over the duration of the vesting period. The company recognised a total expense of £nil related
to equity share based payments in the year (£022: £8k), and an expense of £187k (Z022: £33k}
related to cash settled share-based payments.



DocuSign Envelope 1D: 4F52F676-40B1-46E0-AB9A-954137F 362AD
INTO UNIVERSITY PARTNERSHIPS LIMITED

22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group

The subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group are shown below together with details of their
main activities.

Directly held subsidiary undertakings Country / State  Holding Main activities

of incorporation
INTO Manchester Limited (Registered No. §6438137) * (1) England & Wales  100% Educational services
Delta Language Training & Consultancy Limited (Registered No. 02876005)  England & Wales  100% Educational services
-1
Friars 607 Limited (Registered No. 06885738) * (1) England & Wales  100% Inyestment holding Company
IUP East Anglia Limited (Registered No. 06296000) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTQ Exeter Limited (Registered No, 05880246) * (1) England & wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTO Newcastle Limited {(Registered No. 06030536) * (1} England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
Newincco 821 Limited (Registered No. 06556353) * (1) England &wales  100% Investment holding Company
Newincco 921 Limited {Registered Na. 06858769} * (1) England & Wales  100% Imvestment holding Company
Newincco 922 Limited (Registered No. 06858821) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTO Medical Limited (Registered No. 676011722) * (1) England & Wales  100% [nvestment holding Company
INTO UOG Limited (Registered No, 0B404156) * (1) england & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTO University Partnerships (Asia) Limited () Hong Kong 100% Educational services
IUP 2 LLP {Registered No. 0C376452) * (1) England & Wales  100% Provision of corporate services
Newincco 1183 Limited (Registered No. 08068260) ** (1) England & Wales  100% Dormant
Newincco 1306 Limited (Registered No. 09083887) * (1) England & Wales  100% Investment holding Company
INTOGR LP (3) Delaware, USA 100% Investment holding Company
INTO Newcastle Line East Property Limited (Registered No. 09061279) " (1)  England & Wales  100% Development of building projects
INTO York Property Limited {Registered No. 08848481 * (1) England & Wales  100% Development of building projects
INTO MAS Limited (Registered No. 09738488) * (1) England & Wales  100% Fducational services
MAS Education SAS (4) Colombia 100% Educational services
Espalier Property Project 004 Limited {Registered No. 07331859} * (1) England & Wales  100% Other letting and operating of

own ar leased real estate

Into Education India Private Limited {25) India 100% Educational services
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22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group (continued)

Country / State  Holding Main activities

Indirectly held subsidiary undertakings

I1UP Asia Limited (2} Hong Kong 100% Educational services

INTO TEFL Limited (Registered No. 07269159) * (1) England & Wales  100% Educational services

INTO London MOX Street LLP (Registered No. 0C346266) * (1) England & Wales  100% Educational services

INTO China Limited (2) Hong Korg 100% Educational services
Guangzhou INTO Education Limited {5) China 100% Educational services

INTO London World Education Centre Limited (Registered No. 07956509) * (1} England & Wales  100% Educational services
INTOUSALP (3} Delaware, USA 100% Investment holding Company
INTO North America Inc (3) Delawarg, USA 100% Provision of corporate services
International Student Education Services, Inc (6} Oelaware, USA 100% Educational services

INTO London STEM Medicine and Health Ltd** (1) England & Wales  100% Educational services

INTO Global Service Centre Limited {2) Hong Kong 100% Educational services
Newincco 1184 Limited ** (1) England & Wales  100% Dormant

INTO USFLP {7) Oelaware, USA 100% Investment holding Company
University Access Servicas HK Limited (2) Hong Kang 100% Educational services

DPU Glabal Limited (2) Hong Kong 100% Educational services

DPU {Shanghai) Business Consulting Co, Ltd {19) China 100% Educational services

INTO Long Istand LLC {20) New York, USA 100% Educational services
Schoolapply AG {21) Switzerland 100% Educational senvices
University Access Centre Vietnam Company Limited {£2) Vietnam 100% Educational servicas

into Australia Pty Limited (24} Austratia 100% Investment holding Company
Into Perth Pty Limited (24} Australia 100% Educational services

Into (Mafaysia) SDN. BHD. {26} Malaysia 100% Educational services

INTO Newcastle University LLP (1) England & Wales  51% Educational services
University Access Centre SAS(27) Colombia 100% Fducationat services

PT INTO Clobal Indonesia {28) Indonesia 100% Educational services

INTO SLU LLC (15) Crelaware, USA 100% Educational services
University Access Centre Kazakhstan LLP (29) Kazakhstan 100% Educational services

Uni Access Centre (Thailand) Ca Ltd (30) Thalland 48% Educational services

INTO Global MENA FZ- LLC{31) Cubai 100% Educational services

UAC Services Pakistan { Private) Ltd (32) Pakistan 9895 Educational services

IUP Access Services Nigeria Limited (33) Nigeria 100% Educational services

INTO Lancaster Limited (Registered No. 14818727273 * {1} England & Wales  100% Educational services

of incorporation
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22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group {continued)

Indirectly held interests in joint ventures Couniry / State  Holding Main activities
of incorporation

INTO UEA LLP (8) England & Wales  50% Educational services
INTO University of Exeter LLP (1) England & Wales  50% Educationat services
INTO City LLP {1) England & Wales  50% Educationat services
INTO Queens LLP (9) Northern Ireland  50% Educational services
INTO Qregon State University Inc (L0} Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
INTO USF Inc (7) Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
INTO CSU LEC (1) Colorado, USA 50% Educationat services
INTO New York at Orew LLC (13) Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
INTO Mason LLC (13) Virginia, USA 50% Educational services
INTO Stirling LLP (1.4) Scotland 50% Educational services
INTO UAB LLC (16) Alabama, USA 50% Educational services

INTQ Suffolk LLC {17} Delaware, USA 50% Educational services
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22 Subsidiaries and joint ventures of the group {(continued)

N exempt f-om the equiremerts af the Companies ACT re azing to the audit of ndivdual f nancial statements Gy vir e

of 54794,

exempt fiom the equirererts of the Companies Act re aung to the audit o indwdual f nancial statements by virtLe

¢ 5394811 resoect of domant Comrpanies

Registered ardress Ore, Cloucester Place, Brighton, BN1 4AA

Registered address Unit 1007, 10/F. wng On Kow oon Cente, No 345 Nathan Rnad, [ordan, Kowloon, -1eng Kong

Jegstered address Suite 400, 8910 University Center Lane, CA 92122

Registered address Carrera 15, No.B8-64. Edifico Tone Zimma, Of:cina 707, Bogata, Cundinimerca, 11011 Colombia

Registered address Office 2002, Teem Tower, "eemwall, 208 Tanhe Read,T arre District. GLangzhouw, 510620 PR

China

Registered addrass Suite 305, 1610 Medical Drive, Pottstown, PA, 19464

Registered address 4202, East Fowler Avenue, Tampa. 7L, 33620

Registered address, The Registry, Unive-s ty of East Angha, Nareach, Nesfalk, NR4 7T)

9 Registered address 2-B Lennoxvale, Belfast, Co. Artnm, BTS 5BY

10 Repistered address, 1701 SW Western Blvd, Corvalis, DR 97333

11 Registered addiess 150 Old Main Dr ve, Fart Collns, O3, BOSZ 3

12 Registered address 26 Madson Averue, Madison. NJ, 17940

13 Registered address: 4352 Mason Pond Dnve, Farfax, WA, 22030

14 Repistered address University of Stiring, Strling, FK9 4LA

15 Remstered address. Sute 110, Beracha Hall, 3721 Laclede Avenue, St Lowss, M0, 63108

16 Registered address Floar 2,917 131h Street South, Brmingham, Al, 35254

17  Repistered address. 13 <ruegal Hall, Pukman, WA, 99164

18 Regstered addiess. 304 S Un versity St =ell Hall, Normal. IL €171

19 Regstered address, 11C/111, Block 17, wencul Ptaza, Suzhou Dushu Lake Science Educanen and innovanior Distnct

20 Registered address' C/0 Corporation Semvice Company, B0 Stat Street, Albany, New Yorg, 12209

21l Repisterad address' Bahnhofstrasse 7, CH-6300 Zug  Sw tzerland

22 Repsteed address' Ground Flnor and Mezzanie, Anh Minn Tower, No 56 Nguyen Dinh Chiea Street, Da Kao Waid,
District 1, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietram

23 Repisieced address' Carparation Service Carnpany, 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmingtan, New Castle, DE 19808

24 Repisteced address: Level 27, 2 The Esplanade, Perth, wWestern Australia WA 60C0, Australa

25 Repsteed address: 623, 6th Floor, Commeraial Comp:ex, DILF Tower-B, Jasola, Socuth Deh, India 110025

26 Registered address, Un t 30-01, Level 30, Tower A, Vertical 3usiness Suite, Avenue 3 Bangsar South, Ne. B [alan
Kerinchi, KLa a Limpur. M3 aysia

7 Repstered add-ess. U1t Avenida Calle 26 59 51 Tarre A 0ficina 311, Bogua, Colombia

78 Regsieed addess, 2ur ndah Financial Tower (PIFT) URit 7, Level GF Jalan Pui Lingkar Dalam, Desafkelurahan ke'apa
dia, Kec kebon eruk Kota Adm |axarta Barat, Pravinsi O<I Jakarta, Kede Pos 11610, Irdores.a

29 Reg stered address <arakhstan, Alraty aty, Medeu district, Dostyk avenue, 5 d 188, postal code 050000

3¢ Regsterad address: 571 RSU Tower, 8:h Floor, Room 805, Sukhumyit Road, North Klengton Sub-dist-ict, Wattana
Distict, Bangkok

31 Reg stered address: 114 First Floor, Fock No, 03, Duba <rawledge Fark, Duba, United Arab Emirates

32 Regstered address: Office #1, 29-D, Man Gulpe-g % Main Joulevard Lahore

33 Regstered address: Adal Hodse, 15 CIPM Avenue, Central Business [hstrict, Adusa, Lagos. kejd, Lagos Srate

o e o

&£ o~
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23 Contingent liabilities

On 15th July 2022 procesdings were filed in a US court seeking a declaratory judgment in
relation to a commercial dispute to which an INTO group entity is 3 party. INTO group opposes
the declaration {wh ch has subsequently baen droppad) and has fled a daim “or damages against
the parties who broyght this action. The same party has also filed another claim in refazior o
costs incurred in refation to recruitment of students being stapped for this entity INTO have
provided for legal fees up to 31 July 2023 in relation to this ongoing litigation. Further legal fees
in relation to this case are expected to be incurred in £Y 24 in respect of this dispute and have
been included in the forecasts for this period, Full provision has been made in FYZ3 against the
debt position of INTO group in relation to this claim . The total provision amount has not been
disclosed in relation to this item as it {s deemed it would be prejudicial 1o do so.

24 Financial information for individually significant joint ventures
of the group

INTO UEA LLP 2023 2022
£'000 £'000

Share of assets

Share of current assets 3136 3804
Share of fixed assats 538 553
3674 4,356
Share of liabilities
Ligbilities due within one year (9,.887) (4,960
Liabilities due after one year - {3.500)
Share of net liabilities (6213) {4,104}
Share of turnover 4,003 4,303

Share of operating loss (1,972) (1.579)
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25 Acquisition
There were no acquisitions or disposals in the current year.

In the prior year,in 1 August 2071 the group acquired an additional 50% shareholding in INTO
SLU LLE, which took the group's overall shareholding to L00%,

The group has therefore used acquisition accounting to account for the purchase, and the results
of the LLP have been consolidated into the group's results from that date.

The following tables set ou? tie fair values of the identifiable assats and iiabilities acquired

£000
Tangible assets 114
Intangitle assets 317
Cash and cash equivalents 1,016
Trade and other debtors 1,645
Trade and other creditors (3.081)
Net liabilities acquired 11

No consideration was paid as a result of this transaction, The effect of the transacuon within the
group financial statements was (@ dispose of the group’s share of liab lities in jont ventures of
£6k and acquire net liabilitics of £11k, and to generate additional goodwill of LGSk, as a result of
the additional capital acquired for zero consideration.
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For more information visit intoglobat.com or contact us:

Europe, Middle East, Africa and Asia
North America

INTO University Partnerships INTO University Partnerships
One Gloucester Place Unit 1007, 19/F
Brighton, East Sussex Wing On Kowlaon Centre
BN1 4AA, United Kingdom 345 Nathan Road
T +44 (0)1273 665200 Jordan, Hong Kong

T: +852 2105 6800

[ eintoglobal

M www.iinkedir.com/company/into-university-partnerships

INTO®

© INTC University Partnerships Lid, Decemter 2023, All content published in this document is believed accurate at time of
publication. INTO reserves the right to alter details of all aspects of its operation without notice,

IUP 2 LLP is a limited liabitity partnership registered in England and Wales, registered number 0C376G452. Registered office:
One Gloucester Place, Brightan, East Sussex. BN 4AA, UK.




